
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE WORKING GROUP (HPBC) AGENDA 
 
Date: 
 

Thursday, 27 May 2021 

Time: 
 

6.30 pm 

Venue: 
 

Virtual 

 

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

 1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
2. ‘Other’ Interests 

 

3. Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 52) 

4. Actions since the last meeting - verbal  

5. Update on Draft Action Plan - verbal  

 a. Low Carbon Advertising 

 

6. Theme - Waste  

 (a) Developing and managing the circular economy in public and private sector settings 
- Amanda Reid, Waste Operations Manager at Savills UK waste Management 

 
(b) Resources and Waste Strategy Consultation and Engagement with the Energy 

Saving Trust - Nicola Kemp Service Commissioning Manager, High Peak Borough 
Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
 

(c) Discussion and suggested actions from presentations 

 

7. Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England Consultation 
(Councillor Todd) (Pages 53 - 60) 

8. Date of next meeting - 8 July 2021, Theme, Energy Supply  

 
MARK TRILLO 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

Membership of Climate Change Working Group (HPBC) 
Councillor T Ashton Councillor A Barrow 
Councillor J Collins Councillor C Farrell 
Councillor L Grooby Councillor M Hall 



Public Document Pack



Councillor I Huddlestone Councillor T Kemp 
Councillor D Lomax Councillor A McKeown 
Councillor G Oakley Councillor K Thomson 
Councillor S Thomson Councillor E Thrane 
Councillor J Todd  

 



1 
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE WORKING GROUP (HPBC) 
 
 

Meeting: Thursday, 22 April 2021 at 6.30 pm in Virtual Meeting 
 

Present: Councillor  A McKeown (Chair) 
 

 Councillors T Ashton, A Barrow, J Collins, C Farrell, L Grooby, T Kemp, 
D Lomax, G Oakley, K Thomson, S Thomson, E Thrane and J Todd 
 
Councillor Abbotts and Zee-Zee Heine (High Peak Green Network) were 
also in attendance 
 

 An apology for absence was received from Councillor M Hall 
 

42 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
(Agenda Item 3) 
 
An update around the Climate Change Action Plan would be submitted to 
the next meeting. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That, subject to the inclusion of Councillor Lomax’s apologies for absence, 
the minutes of the meeting held on 24 March 2021 be approved as a correct 
record. 
 

43 THEME - AGRICULTURE AND LAND USE 
(Agenda Item 4) 
 
The Benefits of Agroforestry 
 
John Tucker, Director of Woodland Outreach for The Woodland Trust made 
a presentation to the Working Group around the benefits of agroforestry.  A 
copy of the presentation is attached.  Topics covered included the benefits 
of agroforestry, which included ecosystem services, direct and indirect 
outputs and an increase in carbon sequestered.  Reference was made to a 
new woodland creation grant in England due to be announced by the 
Forestry Commission which would make schemes financially attractive to 
landowners. 
 
Net Zero and Agriculture 
 
Andrew Critchlow, Derbyshire County NFU Advisor, made a presentation 
around the NFU’s commitment to achieve net zero agriculture by 2040. A 
copy of the presentation is attached.  The aspiration was based around 
three pillars, namely, pillar 1 – boosting productivity to reduce emissions, 
pillar 2, the storing of carbon on farmland and pillar 3, renewables and the 
bio economy and actions for net zero and where the local authority could 
help were set out for each one.  Previous forms of rural development 
funding have been phased out and it new forms are likely to be linked to 
Local Industrial Strategies administered through the LEPS, and it was Page 3

Agenda Item 3




Climate Change Working Group (HPBC) 
Thursday, 22 April 2021 

 

2 
 

suggested that funding for agricultural and rural projects should be ring-
fenced and maintained at least at existing levels.  Reference was also made 
to the Environmental Land Management Scheme from 2024, which was still 
in development. 
 
Hope Valley Farmers: Farmer collaboration and climate change 
 
Chloe Palmer, HVF Facilitator, made a presentation around the Hope Valley 
Farmers Collaboration which formed in 2017. A copy of the presentation is 
attached.  The group has increased in numbers from 28 and 45 and 
examples of the work undertaken by the members working together were 
set out, and particular reference was made to a soil health project funded by 
Severn Trent to deliver works to improve soil structure and biology and 
thereby increase carbon storage.  Future plans included an expansion of the 
soils project. continuing the relationship with the Woodland trust to explore 
funding route to build upon tree planting successes, and to explore different 
management techniques for permanent grassland could increase the scope 
for carbon storage.  In response to a query regarding the maintenance of 
live stock and methane, it was anticipated that by looking at what the 
animals were fed could influence the carbon footprint calculation through the 
carbon audit.  Discussion also ensured around the carbon sequestion of 
pasture and grassland.  It was noted that the Hope Valley project was a pilot 
within the area.  Ways in which the borough council could help were 
discussed, including facilitating changes on farms and supporting new 
funding schemes and diversification in the rural economy. 
 
The presenters were thanked for their attendance and presentations. 
 
Actions and Discussion 
 
Details of the Woodland Creation Grants would be circulated, and what 
changes would have to be in place to facilitate change for farms to be 
sustainable would be examined. 
 
The management of the council’s own land and creating a co-ordinated plan 
for the future management of areas and pockets of land would be discussed 
by the bio-diversity group to report back to a future meeting of this group.  It 
was also suggested that work should be undertaken with DCC around a 
verges policy to ensure verges are as healthy as possible.  Reference was 
made to various other groups within the borough together with the wish to 
support and encourage voluntary groups in a co-ordinated way.  The need 
for officers to be educated around bio diversity issues was discussed. 
 

44 DATE OF NEXT MEETING - 20 MAY 2021 
(Agenda Item 5) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the next meeting be held virtually on 20 May 2021 at 6.30 p.m. 
 
 
The meeting concluded at 8.00 pm 
 Page 4




Climate Change Working Group (HPBC) 
Thursday, 22 April 2021 

 

3 
 

 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



The Benefits of Agroforestry

John Tucker
Director of Woodland Outreach 

P
age 7



There are lots of ways that 
you can achieve it

Single trees

Oak and wild pear 
wood pasture.

P
age 8



There are more complex layouts and systems

Dartington, Devon

Stephen Briggs, 
Cambridgeshire

P
age 9



What are the benefits of agroforestry?

• “Commercial agroforestry models are still rare in 
the UK”.

• Lots of variables that will impact on costs.
• Look at 3 types of benefits:
• Ecosystem services – soil, water, carbon.
• Indirect outputs to benefit farming- shelter, 

welfare, pollination.
• Direct outputs from trees- fruit, nuts, timber, 

fodder, biomass.

P
age 10



1.Ecosystem Benefits

P
age 11



Forest of Bowland, Lancashire

Year 0; soil and nutrient run off

Year 6: reduced run off, 
improved salmon stocks, 
improved biodiversity

P
age 12



Carbon
“The new woodland should have 
the potential to achieve at least 
20% canopy cover so should 
achieve at least 400 stems per 
hectare or maximum 5 m spacing 
over the net project area.”

Traditional Forestry densities are 
1600- 2500 trees per hectare.

P
age 13



2.Indirect benefits: shelter for crops

Wind speeds reduced, evapotranspiration reduced, more efficient water usage

P
age 14



Shelter for animals

Summer shade benefits for welfare and yield

Impact of winter shelter on 
outdoor lamb survival and live 
weight gain

P
age 15



Trees are an excellent pollen 
and nectar source

P
age 16



Coppice and timber 
resource

3. Direct outputs

P
age 17



Diversification

P
age 18



P
age 19



Truffle Farming

P
age 20



Economic Benefits

P
age 21



Consider on going management needs including skills and costs.

P
age 22



Sources of Information – Farm Woodland Forum

Case studies

Research
Technical reports

P
age 23



P
age 24



AFINET great source of information and inspiration

P
age 25



Woodland Trust – assist with on the ground delivery

PUR scheme – some funding for agroforestry schemes, up to 50,000 trees in 2021

Funding for hedgerows (up 
to 50,000m and small 
woodlands up to 3ha

P
age 26



Summary
• Wide range of 

benefits 
available.

• Be clear on your 
objectives

• Understand your 
site and farming 
system.

• Give yourself 
time to plan.

• Look after your 
trees.

P
age 27



Thank you!

P
age 28



Achieving
NET ZERO
Farming’s 2040 goalFarming’s 2040 goalFarming’s 2040 goal

P
age 29



Introduction
The NFU has set the ambitious goal of reaching net zero 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions across the whole of agriculture 
in England and Wales by 2040. This is our contribution to the 
UK’s ambition of net zero by 2050.
 
Agriculture is uniquely placed to be part of the solution, as both 
an emissions source and a sink. As farmers we have a special 
responsibility to protect carbon reserves already in our soils 
and vegetation. But we must and we can do more. We know 
emissions from UK farms presently amount to 45.6 million 
tonnes of carbon dioxide (CO2) equivalent a year – about one-
tenth of UK GHG emissions. But in stark contrast to the rest 
of the economy only 10 per cent of this is CO2. Around 40% is 
nitrous dioxide (N2O) and 50% is methane (CH4).
 
The NFU’s assessment is that we can only deliver net zero if we 
act across a range of internationally recognised inventories. 
Based upon the latest scienti�c evidence, our approach has been 
discussed with the Committee on Climate Change, so we believe 
our aim is challenging, but attainable, given the right incentives.
 
There is no single answer to this problem. To achieve our aim 
we will need a range of measures that fall under three broad 
headings:
• Improving farming’s productive ef�ciency;
•  Improving land management and changing land use to 

capture more carbon;
• Boosting renewable energy and the wider bioeconomy.
 
At the same time as reducing our impact on the climate, we 
should not reduce our capacity to feed UK consumers with 

high quality, affordable British food. The UK must not achieve 
its climate change ambitions by exporting UK production, or our 
greenhouse gas emissions, to other countries. 
 
Our ambition for a net zero contribution to climate change 
across the whole of agricultural production by 2040 is a national 
aspiration, not an expectation that every farm can reach net zero. 
Every farm will start the journey to net zero from a different place 
and will need a unique action plan.
 
It is important to start that journey by assessing the likely emissions 
sources on farm. I know the future on my farm has to be about 
holistic farm management - not organic versus conventional, but 
sustainable farming practice that focuses on building soil health. 
Our mixed rotation is focused on continually striving to improve 
grazing pasture, introduce more clover and herbal leys which 
help to �x nitrogen so we use less fertiliser, and GPS technology 
is supporting our ability to precision farm. I’m con�dent that new 
feed additives and minerals will also help further reduce methane 
and regular benchmarking ensures I’m getting the best performance 
and productivity out of my livestock. Focusing on health status and 
the right genetics are key to carbon neutral farming. 
 
The NFU believes that the agricultural sector is very much part 
of the solution to decarbonising the UK economy and achieving 
net zero and we are working on proposals for pilot schemes to 
introduce policy incentives to bring to life net zero for farmers 
and growers. But we will only be able to achieve our carbon 
neutral goal with concerted support from government, industry 
and other key groups to help deliver this challenging, but 
achievable, ambition.

Minette Batters
NFU President

2

P
age 30



The global challenge of 
tackling climate change
Climate change is arguably the greatest 
environmental challenge facing the 
world, with many countries now 
experiencing unprecedented and 
increasingly frequent extremes of 
weather. International action on this issue 
has been slow to take off, but progress 
is now being made in decarbonising the 
global economy as well as in adapting to 
a changing climate.

Britain’s Climate Change Act of 2008 
introduced the world’s �rst long-term 
national framework to tackle climate 
change, setting a legally binding target 
of an 80% reduction in GHG emissions 
by 2050, against a 1990 baseline. After 
a few false starts, the comprehensive 
international Paris Agreement on climate 
change was approved in 2015, aiming to 
limit GHG emissions “as soon as possible” 
and keeping global temperature increase 
“well below” 2C. The Paris Agreement 
also recognised the importance of 
“safeguarding food security and ending 
hunger, and the particular vulnerabilities 
of food production systems to the adverse 
impacts of climate change”.

Three years later, the Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change issued a 
scienti�c report on the potential impacts 
of global warming and how the rise in 
global temperature should be limited 
to 1.5C. It concluded that the risks and 
impacts of 2C average warming compared 
with 1.5C justify a much deeper and 
faster policy response, in terms of 
technological changes to energy and 
food production as well as human 
lifestyle.

In 2019, Britain became the �rst 
major world economy to legislate 
for net zero emissions, aiming 
to end the contribution of UK 
economic production activities to 
climate change over the next 30 
years. Many other countries and 
trading blocs are expected to follow 
suit, raising hopes that the worst 
effects of climate change can be 
avoided in the near future.

3

P
age 31



Agricultural GHG emissions are very 
different from other sectors of the 
economy, such as electricity generation, 
transport and manufacturing. The 
principal GHG emitted by most industries 
is carbon dioxide (CO2) from fossil fuel 
combustion, while for agricultural systems 
methane (CH4) and nitrous oxide (N2O) are 
the main GHGs. Reducing these emissions 
is more dif� cult than cutting CO2, because 
they result from complex and imperfectly 
understood natural soil and animal 
microbial processes, a changing climate 
and the limitations of measurement.

A supply of nitrogen from organic 
or inorganic sources is necessary for 
the growth of crops and pasture, and 
it is an unavoidable consequence of 
soil processes that a small amount of 
nitrogen in an agricultural system will 
be emitted as nitrous oxide. Likewise, 
methane is produced by bacteria as cattle 
and sheep break down the cellulose in 
their diet, producing milk and meat for 
human consumption from large areas of 
grassland that would be unsuitable for 
arable farming.

The current UK agricultural 
GHG inventory

British agricultural GHG emissions in 
2017 were 45.6 million tonnes of CO2

equivalent (10% of UK total GHG 
emissions), comprising methane (5.6% 
of UK total), nitrous oxide (3.1%) and 
CO2 (1.2%). Agricultural emissions have 
decreased by 16% overall since 1990, 
but there has been only modest progress 
since 2011, when the industry’s GHG 
Action Plan was agreed.

emissions in the UK
GreenHouse gas

business

agriculture

15%

17%

24%

27%

10%
residential

energy supply

Transport

4

P
age 32



Why agriculture is part of the solution 
to climate change

SOLAR &
WIND POWER
(VERY LOW EMISSIONS)

AGRICULTURE
circular, balanced �ows of greenhouse gases

CH4

RUMINANT LIVESTOCK

ENERGY
PRODUCTS

E.G. BIOGAS, FUELS
BIOENERGY CROPS

CO2CO2

BIOECONOMY

BIOENERGY WITH
CARBON CAPTURE

AND STORAGE
(BECCS)

LONG-LIVED
PRODUCTS

STORE CARBON

FOOD CROPS FOOD

CO2CO2

10% of UK GHG emissions

SOIL CARBON STORAGE

CO2

N2O

PLUS INCREASED FARMLAND
WOODLAND AND ENHANCED

HEDGEROWS

SMART FARMING
WILL REDUCE ALL
GHG EMISSIONS

CO2

5

80% of UK GHG emission
FOSSIL FUELS

one-way �ow of greenhouse gases

CO2CO2

TRANSPORT & DISTRIBUTION

CO2

COAL
OIL

SHALE GAS

CO2

Agriculture, and the land-based economy, can play a key role in tackling climate change. It is uniquely placed to capture 
the major greenhouse gas – carbon dioxide (CO2) – from the air and turn it, with the help of farmers, into a wide range 
of foods, � bres and fuels. By enhancing this ability to capture carbon we can use it to generate “negative emissions” – 
actively removing CO2 from the atmosphere and balancing agriculture’s emissions of methane (CH4) and nitrous oxide 
(N2O) from food production.

CO2   Carbon Dioxide
CH4   Methane
N2O  Nitrous Oxide

P
age 33



Now is the right time to set ourselves 
challenging goals, consistent with our 
high standards of production, welfare 
and environmental stewardship, as 
farmers and growers adjust to a new 
domestic agricultural policy. There are 
clear environmental and economic 
imperatives for action. As an industry 
we must respond to growing scienti�c 
evidence of the impacts of climate 
change, and the experience of our 
farmers and growers weathering 
extremes of cold, drought and �ood in 
recent years.

Farm businesses can make an important 
contribution to building a zero-carbon 
economy for Britain and the NFU 
recognises that we must set out how this 
can be best achieved alongside the many 
other expectations on farmers 
and growers.

There are no ‘silver bullet’ answers to 
tackling climate change and achieving 
net zero. We believe action to tackle 
climate change in UK agriculture requires 
a portfolio of different policies and 
practices focused on three key themes, 
or pillars:

The NFU’s vision: 
our approach

•  Improving farming’s productive 
ef�ciency to reduce our greenhouse 
gas emissions – enabling farming to 
produce the same quantity of food, or 
more, with less inputs in smarter ways;

•  Farmland carbon storage in soils 
and vegetation – improving land 
management and changing land use to 
capture more carbon, through bigger 
hedgerows, more woodland, and 
especially more carbon-rich soil;

•  Boosting renewable energy and the 
bioeconomy to displace greenhouse gas 
emissions from fossil fuels and to create 
GHG removal through photosynthesis 
and carbon capture.

Our evidence suggests that, over the next 
20 years, work under these three pillars 
could reduce, offset and counterbalance 
current agricultural emissions of 45.6 
MtCO2e/year.

Current (2017) agricultural emissions balanced against potential 
GHG reduction through productivity measures and GHG removals by 
various methods

Proposed GHG reduction/removal 
by 2040

GHG emissions
(2017)

M
t 

C
O

2e
 / 

ye
ar

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

BIOECONOMY
BASED

MEASURES
26 MtCO2e/year

FARMLAND
CARBON
STORAGE

9 MtCO2e/year

PRODUCTIVITY
IMPROVEMENTS
11.5 MtCO2e/year

METHANE
25.7 MtCO2e/year

NITROUS
OXIDE

14.3 MtCO2e/year

CARBON
DIOXIDE

5.6 MtCO2e/year

6

P
age 34



Improving farming’s productive ef�ciency 
will enable farmers to produce the same 
quantity of food, or more, with less 
inputs, in smarter ways. This, in turn, will 
enable the sector to reduce its greenhouse 
gas emissions.

A variety of measures to boost 
productivity and reduce emissions, as 
identi�ed by the Committee on Climate 
Change (CCC), plus others emerging from 
current NFU work on productivity will be 
required to achieve this. These measures 
include things like:
•  The use of controlled release fertilisers 

and inhibitors to increase ef�cient use 
of nitrogen and reduce emissions;

•  Feed additives to reduce methane 
emissions from ruminant livestock;

•  Improving health in cattle and sheep to 
reduce methane emissions and boost 
growth rates;

•  Precision farming for crops to deliver 
nutrients and crop protection more 
ef�ciently;

Pillar 1
Boosting productivity 
and reducing emissions
Estimated GHG savings: 11.5 MtCO2e/year

•  Loosening compacted soils and 
preventing soil compaction in cropland 
and pasture, reducing the need for 
cultivation and minimising N2O emissions;

•  Anaerobic digestion to convert animal 
manures, crops and crop by-products into 
renewable energy;

•  A wide range of energy ef�ciency 
measures to reduce usage of fuels 
and electricity;

•  Gene editing for disease resistance to 
improve health and productivity of crops 
and livestock and reduce emissions.

To enable us to achieve these improvements 
in farming’s productive ef�ciency, we need:
•  Defra to immediately introduce pilot 

productivity schemes alongside the 
Environmental Land Management 
Scheme (ELMS);

•  Shared Prosperity Fund support for rural 
development;

•  Department for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS) support through 
the Industrial Strategy.

Productive e�ciency 
measures

could deliver estimated 
GHG savings of

11.5 MtCO2e/yearCO2N2O
CH4

7

P
age 35



Farming is already responsible for a 
critical carbon resource in soils, wooded 
landscape and semi-natural habitats. The 
achievement of net zero should actively 
incentivise the conservation of this carbon 
resource as well as its enhancement. 
This conservation and enhancement can 
be achieved through improving land 
management and changing land use to 
capture more carbon – by the provision of 
bigger hedgerows, more woodland and 
especially more carbon-rich soils.
•  Enhanced soil carbon storage could 

deliver GHG savings of 5 MtCO2e/year. 
This would require Defra support for a 
network of demonstration farms and 
the development of a mechanism for 
reward payments.

•  Enhancing and increasing hedgerows 
could deliver GHG savings of up to 0.5 
MtCO2e/year. This would require the 
inclusion of hedgerow management

Pillar 2
Farmland carbon storage
Estimated GHG savings: 9 MtCO2e/year

in the Environmental Land 
Management Scheme (ELMS); the 
promotion of hedgerow options in 
Championing the Farmed Environment 
(CFE); and support from Defra and 
Treasury for carbon pricing.

•  Increasing woodland planting on farms 
could deliver GHG savings of 0.7 MtCO2e/
year. Inclusion of woodland and shelter 
belt planting in ELMS; promotion of new 
planting in CFE; and support from Defra 
and the Treasury for carbon pricing will 
be needed to help achieve this.

•  Peatland and wetland restoration might 
deliver GHG savings of up to 3 MtCO2e/
year. Support for this work in ELMS will 
be needed to help achieve this.

Enhancing and increasing hedgerows
could deliver GHG savings of up to

0.5 MtCO2e/year

Enhanced soil carbon storage
could deliver GHG savings of

5 MtCO2e/year

CO2

SOIL CARBON
STORAGE

Increasing farmland 
woodland

could deliver GHG savings of 
0.7 MtCO2e/year

8

P
age 36



Pillar 3
Coupling bioenergy 
to carbon capture, 
utilisation and storage
Estimated GHG savings: Up to 26 MtCO2e/year

Boosting renewable energy and the 
bioeconomy to displace greenhouse gas 
emissions from fossil fuels and to create 
GHG removal through photosynthesis 
and carbon capture is a key part of the 
NFU ambition for achieving net zero.
•  Bioenergy with carbon capture 

and storage (BECCS) – the process 
of producing energy from organic 
matter and capturing and storing 
the carbon produced – could deliver 
GHG savings of up to 22 MtCO2e/year. 
Implementation of the industry-led 
Bioenergy Strategy by BEIS, a clear 
carbon price trajectory and multiple 
demonstration projects at different 
scales will be needed to achieve this.

•  Bio-based materials in construction 
and industry could deliver GHG 
savings of 0.5 MtCO2e/year. This will 
also require the implementation 
of the Government’s Bioeconomy 
Strategy, as well as support from the 
Home Of�ce and Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government 
for novel building and insulation 
materials like hemp �bre and sheep’s 
wool.

•  Displacement of fossil fuel use by 
land-based renewables could deliver 
GHG savings of up to 3 MtCO2e/year. 
This will need the government to 
enable further growth in land-based 
renewables and BEIS and 
Defra to allow credit for avoided 
GHG emissions.

In the longer term, it is possible that 
the application of biochar – powdered 
charcoal – to soil and accelerated 
mineral weathering could deliver GHG 
savings of up to 2.5 MtCO2e/year and 
up to 1 MtCO2e/year, respectively. These 
processes will require further evaluation 
and approval before use.

Boosting renewable energy 
and the bioeconomy
could deliver estimated 
GHG savings of up to
26 MtCO2e/year

Photo courtesy of FUTURE BIOGASS LIMITED

9

P
age 37



Partnership working – with 
government, with industry, 
with academics
The policy measures needed to enable UK 
farming to meet our net zero aspiration 
will require a partnership approach. 
Uptake by farm businesses will need to 
be accompanied by concerted support 
across government departments, agencies 
and other stakeholders to act with us and 
help us deliver on this ambition.

For example, boosting productivity across 
all farm sectors needs a range of policy 
measures not just from Defra but also 
BEIS, the Treasury and other government 
departments to enable investment in new 
technology and refurbishment of existing 
capital, consistent with the Industrial 
Strategy and Clean Growth Strategy.

Enhancing carbon storage in soils and 
vegetation will require collaborative 
working with environmental NGOs. 
There also needs to be recognition by 
both these NGOs and government of the 
multiple environmental bene�ts that 
could be layered together with carbon 
storage in response to a realistic carbon 
reward price.

The UK also needs to develop a strong 
domestic bioenergy base in the short 
term, alongside other land-based 
renewables, in order to build up its 
longer-term potential for greenhouse gas 
removal in the future, through a variety 
of bioenergy pathways as well as the 
wider bioeconomy.

By working together as an industry, across 
all farming sectors, choosing from a broad 
range of policy measures will enable 
individual farm businesses to take action 
on net zero.

10

P
age 38



Systems for farmers and growers to track 
and be rewarded for the public good of 
reducing or offsetting GHG emissions 
have yet to be developed. These may 
need to be based upon both physical 
audits (actually measuring and recording 
changes in farm practice) as well as 
expected results predicted by modelling. 
It is quite likely that monitoring and 
veri�cation of certain measures, such as 
enlarged or extended hedgerows, will be 
easier than others, such as soil carbon.

However, “proxy indicators” of changed 
management practice which are likely 
to increase carbon storage could be 
coupled to models that are supported 
by actual �eld testing, carried out 
on a network of ‘climate-friendly’ 
demonstration farms, which would 
represent different farming systems 
across a range of soils and natural 
environments. Ideally a single integrated 
measure such as the Sustainability Metric 
that the Sustainable Farming Trust 
proposes, would capture a range of 
agronomic and environmental 
factors. 

Measurement, reporting 
and next steps

There is an urgent need now to pilot our 
ambitions with support from government 
and other stakeholders, bringing net 
zero to life for the farmers and growers 
who are critical to its success. Our 
initial pilot proposals aim to develop 
a farmer-friendly framework for 
monitoring and reporting tools, to 
boost con�dence that changes in 
on-farm practice are being captured. 
Such a framework might be validated 
and con�rmed with reference 
to a �eld testing farm network, 
and backed up by actual physical 
measurement across a small sample 
of the total.

11

P
age 39



Report produced by:

NFU, AGRICULTURE HOUSE
STONELEIGH PARK, STONELEIGH, WARWICKSHIRE CV8 2TZ
September 2019

P
age 40



z
Hope Valley Farmers: 
Farmer collaboration and 

climate change

Chloe Palmer, HVF Facilitator

P
age 41



Hope Valley Farmers

P
age 42



Hope Valley Farmers in Numbers

• Group formed in October 2017

• 45 farms/holdings are members

• Covering approximately 4800 hectares

• Largely beef and sheep enterprises with one dairy farm and 

several small holdings

• Habitats included within this area include moorland, native 

woodland, species rich grassland, riparian and rivers, scrub

• Predominantly Severely Disadvantaged Area with land rising 

to 605m (1985ft)

• 22 face to face events held since October 2017 and a further 

seven virtual events during Covid pandemic

P
age 43



P
age 44



Working together….

P
age 45



Action on the ground…

• HVF Members have planted 15000 trees to date since 
founded

• 1110m of hedges have been laid by members

• 1600m of new hedge planted on HVF farms

• 17 members of HVF involved in the Soil Health Project 
funded by Severn Trent delivering >120ha of works to 
improve soil structure and biology and thus increase 
carbon storage

• We organised a virtual Carbon Audit workshop with the 
Farm Carbon Toolkit to improve understanding amongst 
members of how they can measure and reduce their 
carbon footprint

P
age 46



P
age 47



P
age 48



P
age 49



P
age 50



Future plans

• Ongoing, constructive relationship with the Woodland Trust and 
explore other new funding routes to enable us to build upon 
previous tree planting successes

• Look to expand the soils project so we can include greater areas
and carry out further amelioration work to store more carbon and 
build biological activity

• Explore how different management techniques for permanent 
grassland could increase the scope for carbon storage

• Further partnership working with the Farm Carbon Toolkit to 
encourage members to carry out carbon audits so they better 
understand their carbon footprint – measure to manage!

• Support members to enter agri-environment schemes to enable 
them to increase carbon sequestration

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Briefing 21/32         May 2021 
 

Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England. 

To: All Chief Executives, Senior Policy Officers Main Contacts and APSE Contacts in 
England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland 

Following on from the 2019 consultation, this latest Government consultation details 

specific policy proposals for increasing consistency in recycling collected from households, 
businesses and other organisations.  

This briefing note aims to summarise the key points of the consultation which can be 
found at:  https://consult.defra.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/consistency-in-household-
and-business-recycling/  

The closing date for responses to the consultation is 4 July 2021 

Respondents should also be aware that Government is also consulting for a second time 
on adjacent policy proposals as part of the collection and packaging reforms: for 
Introducing Extended Producer Responsibility for packaging across the UK and 
introducing a Deposit Return Scheme in England, Wales and Northern Ireland. 

 

Key issues 
 The consultation on consistency in recycling collections is one of a set of three which aim 

to greatly improve the UK’s recycling and ultimately waste management system. Other 
consultations are taking place on a deposit return scheme (DRS) and extended producer 
responsibility (EPR)  

 This is the second consultation on consistency which aims to bring finer detail to those 
proposal contained in the first consultation, which took place in 2019. 

 Based on the responses to this second consultation the secretary of state for Defra will 
set out materials which local authorities and businesses will have to recycle by law. These 
recyclable waste streams must be collected separately from other household waste, and 
they must be collected for recycling or composting. 

 The briefing note attempts to summarise those elements of the consultation which will 
have the greatest impact on local authorities. 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



Background  

In this recent consultation, Government is asking what respondents think of their plans to 
increase the consistency in materials collected for recycling from households, businesses 
and other organisations in England.  

Government believes that by increasing consistency in the way recyclable materials are 
collected, this will lead to less confusion for people with regards to the materials that can 
be collected for recycling at the kerbside. This in turn, will help to make sure that less 
waste goes to landfill and more materials can be recycled. 

Government is particularly interested to find out:  

 which materials should be collected as part of the dry recyclable waste streams 
 provisions for food and garden waste collections 
 possible exemptions from the requirements set out in the consultation 
 topics to be included in statutory guidance for local authorities 
 transition timelines for local authorities and businesses 

 

The Consultation 
 
Core set of recyclable materials 
Due to strong support in previous consultations, Government has legislated in the 
Environment Bill for a core set of dry recyclable waste streams to be collected from 
households. These dry recyclable waste streams are: glass, metal, plastic, paper and card. 
Government’s intention is that the following materials will be placed in regulations as 
having to be collected by all local authorities: 

 glass bottles and containers – including drinks bottles, condiment bottles, jars 
 paper and card – including newspaper, cardboard packaging, writing paper 
 plastic bottles – including clear drinks containers, HDPE milk containers, detergent, 

shampoo and cleaning product containers 
 plastic pots, tubs and trays 
 steel and aluminium tins and cans 

In addition to the above items, Government also proposes that the required recyclable 
waste streams will also include the following items: 

 Aluminium foil 
 Aluminium food trays 
 Steel and aluminium aerosols 
 Aluminium tubes, e.g. tomato puree tubes 
 Metal jar / bottle lids 
 Food and drink cartons, e.g. TetraPak 
 Plastic films, e.g. bread bags, carrier bags – proposed for later implementation. 

Page 54



Government recognises that most local authorities already collect the majority of 
materials they are proposing to include in the dry recyclable waste streams. This is 
particularly the case for metal packaging, glass, paper and card, and most plastic 
packaging aside from plastic films. 

As a consequence of this recognition, Government would therefore expect all local 
authorities to be able to collect these materials (with the exception of plastic film) by the 
end of the financial year in which payments to local authorities under Extended Producer 
Responsibility commences (currently proposed to be 2023 / 24 subject to consultation).  

For local authorities that do not currently collect all of the materials on the list, based on 
previous stakeholder engagement, Government  anticipates that these additional 
materials could be incorporated within this timeframe but are willing to hear of any 
problems which may be encountered which may prevent this such as: collection or sorting 
contracts; lack of sufficient MRF or reprocessing infrastructure; difficulties in securing end 
markets; and other issues such as unmanageable cost burdens.  

The exception with regards to the core material collection expectations is with regards to 
plastic films, where Government is proposing that this should be phased in with a defined 
‘end date’ of the financial year 2026 / 27. However, any authorities currently collecting 
plastic film should continue to do so. 

Again, any authorities who feel they will not be able to meet this target will be asked to 
give reasons as to why this is unachievable. 

Government is therefore seeking views within the consultation as to whether local 
authorities agree to these set of proposals with regards to collection of core 
materials from both households and flats by 2023 / 24, on the understanding any 
additional costs will be met from Extended Producer Responsibility payments due in 
2023 / 24. 

The Separate Collection of Food Waste 

The Environment Bill will require local authorities in England to arrange for the separate 
collection of food waste for recycling at least weekly. 

With regards to the collection of food-waste, Government has provided a definition for 
local authorities and businesses as to what they feel best describes this material.  

‘All food material that has become a waste, whether processed, partially processed or 
unprocessed, intended to be, or reasonably expected to be consumed by humans and 
including any substance, including water, intentionally incorporated into the food during its 
manufacture, preparation or treatment’. This includes the following: 

Page 55



 Food scraps 
 Tea bags 
 Coffee grounds 

Government, proposes that the above accurately describes the materials to be collected 
as food waste from households, businesses and non-domestic premises. 

Government believes that the provision of caddy liners in the collection of separately 
collected food waste should be promoted as good practice and that guidance should be 
provided on caddy liners, including on caddy liner material types. As such, Government 
will set out further detail on collection arrangements for food waste and other waste 
streams in statutory / non-statutory guidance.  

Government proposes that local authorities already collecting food waste separately must, 
as required under the Environment Bill duties, continue to collect this for recycling from all 
household properties, including flats, at least weekly, in the 2023 / 24 financial year. There 
may be local authorities that require longer to implement a separate food waste collection 
service,  

 Local authorities without existing contracts in place that would be affected by 
introducing a separate food waste collection service, will be required to have a 
separate weekly food waste collection service in place by the 2024 / 25 financial 
year at the latest, as this will give additional time required to procure the necessary 
capital goods and implement separate food waste collections effectively. 
 

 For local authorities with existing long term mixed food / garden waste collection 
or disposal contracts in place (e.g. In Vessel Composting contracts), we propose 
that they should transition to a separate, weekly food waste collection service for 
all household properties including flats, as quickly as contracts allow – anticipated 
dates between 2024 / 25 and 2030 / 31 subject to further evidence on the 
associated costs and benefits. This will also include those Local authorities with 
long term residual waste disposal contracts affected by introducing a separate 
food waste collection service (e.g. some Energy from Waste or Mechanical 
Biological Treatment contracts For these local authorities, there may be some 
barriers to implementing a separate food waste collection service and Government 
will be exploring the transitional barriers including costs (arising from, for example, 
amending or breaking existing contracts where necessary). 

In all the cases above, the collection service introduced should be a separate food waste 
collection, unless an exception applies that would allow the collection of food waste with 
garden waste,  

Again, any authorities who feel they will not be able to meet this target will be asked to 
give reasons as to why this is unachievable. 

Page 56



The Consultation is looking for views as to whether separate food waste collections, 
including the use of collection caddies, should be included within waste recycling 
collection services, and clearly if not, the reasons why it should be excluded. 

Compostable and biodegradable materials 

Government proposes to provide further guidance to local authorities and other waste 
collectors on the collection and disposal of compostable and biodegradable materials in 
kerbside waste streams. In doing so they are interested to receive comments regarding 
how greater consistency can be achieved via collection and disposal as well as whether a 
composting phase should be included in anaerobic digestion processes. 

Definition of and separate collection of garden waste from households. 

Government proposes that the following should be included in the description of garden 
waste included in regulations. 

Unwanted organic material arising from a garden, including: 

 Grass cuttings 
 Garden weeds 
 Plants and flowers 
 Hedge Clippings 
 Leaves 
 Twigs and small branches 

This excludes: 

 Waste products of animal origin 
 Bulky waste (including but not limited to garden furniture and fencing) 
 Plant pots 
 Garden tools or other gardening equipment 
 Soil, stone, gravel or bricks. 

In the previous consultation there was mixed support that, if a free minimum collection 
service for garden waste is introduced for households with a garden, this should be a 
minimum fortnightly collection service, equivalent to a maximum capacity of 240-litre 
(either bin or sacks) and local authorities would be able to charge for more frequent 
collections and / or additional capacity. Eighty per cent of householder respondents 
supported the introduction of free garden waste collections, but 71% of local authorities 
were not in favour. 

Government is therefore seeking further views on the materials included and 
excluded as well as updated costs and carbon benefits of this proposal i.e. losses of 

Page 57



income from green waste collection charges, carbon reduction, increases in green 
waste recycling due to free collection and also savings to residents by introduction 
of a free service.  Also, with the proposal that the collection should be the equivalent 
of a weekly 240 litre allowance and a charging mechanism for additional green 
waste beyond this amount. It should also be noted that any new additional burdens 
to local authorities incurred through this policy, would be covered by the 
Government. 

Linked to garden waste collections, Government is also seeking views on options, 
either alongside or instead of a free, minimum collection service for garden waste, 
and the extent to which they would achieve the aim of increasing the recycling of 
garden waste and decreasing the quantity of garden waste in residual waste 
streams. 

Within the consultation, Government is willing to consider the possibility of mixing 
recyclable materials collected (either organic or in-organic) where by doing so it does not 
reduce the amount of the material collected or its quality if they were collected separately. 
Examples include: 

 Plastic and metal 
 Glass and metal 

Government is also seeking other similar examples.  

With regards to exemptions to separate collections e.g. where it is not technically or 
economically practicable, or where there is no significant environment benefit to 
collecting two or more waste streams separately individual assessments need to be 
written to justify mixing materials. 

Government proposes only one assessment will be needed across a whole service area or 
partnership or where several authorities may use the same waste infrastructure. 

In order to ensure consistency and quality of materials, Government is intending to 
provide guidance on how different types of recyclable waste should be collected 
separately from each other. 

Other non-statutory guidance 

Government proposes to work with WRAP, to develop and publish non-statutory 
guidance on good practice around collection. This may include guidance around the 
collection of waste streams not included in the Environment Bill (for example, sanitary 
products and hazardous waste), and may also include guidance on areas such as bring 
sites and litter collection. 

Page 58



The aim of the guidance will be to demonstrate current good practice in service delivery 
from across the country and help inform scheme design in light of any future changes 
needed under New Burdens and Extended Producer Responsibility. 

Dry materials to be collected from non-household municipal premises 
for recycling 

The four dry recyclable waste streams are to be collected from non-household municipal 
premises (glass, metal, plastic, paper and card). It is felt that by adopting this approach 
that it will ensure consistency between what people are able to recycle at home, at school 
and at work. 

The types of materials to be included in each recyclable waste stream will be specified in 
regulations. Government’s intention is to include the following materials in regulations, so 
that they are required to be collected by all waste collectors: 

 glass bottles and containers – including drinks bottles, condiment bottles, jars 
 paper and card – including newspaper, cardboard packaging, office paper 
 plastic bottles – including clear drinks containers, HDPE (milk containers),      
 detergent, shampoo and cleaning products 
 plastic pots tubs and trays 
 steel and aluminium tins and cans 

In addition to the above items, Government proposes that the recyclable waste streams 
will also include the following items: 

 Aluminium foil 
 Aluminium food trays 
 Steel and aluminium aerosols 
 Aluminium tubes, e.g. tomato puree tubes 
 Metal jar/bottle lids 
 Food and drink cartons, e.g. TetraPak 
 Plastic films, e.g. bread bags, carrier bags 

Again, it is proposed that these additional items, with the exception of plastic film, should 
be collected from non-household municipal premises in the financial year 2023 / 24. 

APSE Comment  

In producing this briefing note it is accepted that not all, the areas within the consultation 
document have been addressed. For example, there are other areas within the 
consultation which local authorities may have comments on, such as the requirements on 
MRF’s to monitor packaging waste as well as to whether recycling credits should still be 

Page 59



paid for packaging waste bearing in mind more costs are now built into the EPR 
requirements to cover packaging waste management costs. 

There are also sections on non- municipal waste which again may impact on local 
authorities to a lesser degree. 

There are also other considerations, such as assessing the costs of bringing about public 
change to accept the proposed changes and the wider benefits beyond those gained from 
improved recycling levels, but again the briefing note has addressed those areas which are 
likely to have most impact on local authority members. 

APSE welcomes the proposals with a caveat, and that is that whilst the aims of improving 
consistency of recycling materials has been a goal for many years, there is a real need to 
ensure there is sufficient and timely funding to finance these changes, but also that the 
infrastructure is in place to not only accept the higher levels of better-quality recyclables 
but also the reprocessors and end markets are in place to utilise these materials.  Added to 
this, is that markets are developed in order to utilise these reprocessed materials if we as a 
society are to close the circle, an area which local authorities could support through their 
procurement policies.  

If we are to achieve a truly circular economy, which not only supports the waste sector, 
but also brings about economic and environmental benefits, then we cannot introduce 
legislation such as that proposed, without ensuring there is the supportive framework in 
place to make sure it works and is sustainable. 

APSE would encourage member authorities to respond fully to this consultation and 
welcome copies of submissions being shared in order to inform APSE’s overall response, 
please send to wpriestley@apse.org.uk 

Wayne Priestley 

APSE Principal Advisor 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 60


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	The benefits of agroforestry
	Net Zero 2040 report
	High_Peak_BC_HVF_presentation_April2021

	7 Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England Consultation (Councillor Todd)



